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The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted u_ndewo&r license as they relate to radiation
safety and to compliance with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) rules and regulations and the
conditions of your'license. The inspection corisisted of selective examinations of procédures and
representativé records, interviews with personnel, and observations by the inspector. The inspection

‘E 1. Based on the inspection findings, no viclations were identified.
I 2. Previous violation(s) closed.
3. The violation(s), specifically described to you by the inspector as non-cited violations, are not being cited because they were self-identified,
non-repetitive, and corrective action was or is being taken, and the remaining criteria in the NRC Enforcement Policy, NUREG-1600, 10

exercise discretion, were satisfied.

Non-Cited Violation(s) was/were discussed involving the following requirement(s) and Corrective Action(s):

4. During this inspection certain of your activities, as described below and/or attachied, were in viclation of NRC requirements and are being
cited. This form is a NOTICE OF VIOLATION, which may be subject to pasting in accordance with 10 CFR 19.11,

(Violations and Corrective Actions)

Licensee's Statement of Corrective Actions for ltem 4, above.
| hereby state that, within 3¢ days, the actions described by me to the inspector will be faken to correct the violations identified. This statement of
corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201 (corrective steps already taken, corrective steps which will be taken,
date when full compliance will be achieved). | understand that no further written response to NRC will be required, unless specifically requested.
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PROGRAM SCOPE

The Warren, Michigan Mallinckrodt pharmacy employed 3 pharmacists, 3 pharmacy technicians, and 8
drivers. Currently the licensee had 40 customers located in the Detroit, and Southéastern Michigan area
and distributed approximately 250-325+ doses/da)é. The licensee received 4 Mo99/Tc99™ generators
from Mallinckrodt, St. Louis, each week. Xenon-133 gas vials were received and re-distributed to their
customers (the inner containers were not opened in the pharmacy). The pharmac¥ redistributed 1-131
therapy liquid vials and/or capsules weekly, Note that this pharmacy did not use 1-131 to compound
therap¥ capsules. The pharmacy did not distribute beta-emitting ra%hopﬁarmaceuﬁcals at the %ime of this
inspection. The corporate office conducted unannounced, semi-annual audits of the pharmacy’s safety
program (last 6/2005, with minor findings).

During this inspection, the inspector observed morning runs. This included performinP dose calibrator
QC/QA tests, drawing doses, packaging doses for shipment and conducting surveys for compliance with
NRC and DOT requirements. ' The inspector also performed independent radiation’ surveys of select
working areas, reviewed select records, and interviewed select licensee personnel.

The maximum whole body and extremity exposures (in millirem) were recorded as follows:

2003 2004 YTD- 11/2005
Whole Body 102 197
Extremity 9,967 8,796 19,522*

*NOTE: The inspector discussed this extremity exposures at great length with the RSO. The inspector
noted 1hat the 2005 extremity exposures appeared quite higher than expected (compared with previous
years). The RSO informed the inspector that the early morning shift pharmacist received these
exFosures as a result of methodical work practices. He showed improvement with training and changes
in technique. The licensee stated that they were also concerned about these extremity exposures and
discussed it with the individual. The RSO would continue to monitor this issue.
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